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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To: Shareholders and Board of Directors of Brunswick Rail Limited
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Brunswick Rail
Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively – the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated
balance sheet as at December 31, 2015, and the related consolidated income statement,
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing.
Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence that we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited, a UK private company limited by guarantee, and its network of
member firms, each of which is a legally separate and independent entity. Please see www.deloitte.com/about for a detailed
description of the legal structure of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited and its member firms. Please see www.deloitte.ru/en/about
for a detailed description of the legal structure of Deloitte CIS.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2015, and its financial performance
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.
Emphasis of Matter
As explained in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group breached certain
financial and non-financial covenants, representations and warranties under its syndicated
loan facility. As discussed in Note 2, the Group has addressed the above issue by voluntarily
prepaying the syndicated loan facility in full on 18 January 2016. The consolidated financial
statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of the
covenant breach. Our opinion is not qualified in respect of this matter.

Moscow, Russian Federation
4 March 2016

Brunswick Rail Limited and its subsidiary companies

Consolidated income statement
Note
Revenue before hedging with non-derivatives effect
Hedging with non-derivatives effect

133.534
___________
133.534

204.174
(22.976)
___________
181.198

8
12
10
9
20

(22.078)
(8.327)
(8.817)
(15.989)
849
___________

(24.640)
(12.118)
(18.480)
2.865
___________

Operating profit before share-based compensation and
depreciation
Share-based compensation
Impairment losses on railcars
Depreciation and amortisation

79.172
11
18
18

Operating (loss)/profit
Finance costs
Finance income
Revaluation of embedded derivatives on mezzanine
Net foreign exchange losses
Net foreign exchange differences reclassified on dedesignation of hedge

(263)
(165.043)
(35.521)
___________

128.825
(517)
(14.229)
(56.148)
___________

(121.655)

57.931

13
13
26

(68.644)
5.714
300
(173.990)

(68.308)
1.083
(3.586)
(183.475)

14

___________

(129.155)
___________

(358.275)

(325.510)

59.101
___________

49.997
___________

Loss before income tax
Income tax credit

2014
US$000

7
14

Revenue after hedging with non-derivatives effect
Cost of services
Property tax
Staff compensation, excluding share-based compensation
Other operating expenses
Other operating income

2015
US$000

15

Loss for the year attributable to the owners of the
Company

(299.174)
===========

(275.513)
===========

Loss per share attributable to the owners of the
Company during the year:

Basic/diluted loss per share

17

US$ per
share
(1,502)
===========

The notes on pages 9 to 52 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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US$ per
share
(1,369)
============

Brunswick Rail Limited and its subsidiary companies

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Note

Loss for the year

2015
US$000
(299.174)
___________

2014
US$000
(275.513)
___________

Other comprehensive loss:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Cash flow hedge (derivatives):
- Fair value losses on hedging reserve

24, 26

(414)

1.511

(1.097)

-Transfers to income statement
Cash flow hedge (non-derivatives):
- Exchange differences deferred to equity, net of tax
- Net foreign exchange differences reclassified on dedesignation of hedge, net of tax

14, 24

- Exchange differences recycled to income statement, net of tax

14, 24

Currency translation differences

-

(122.952)

-

103.324

-

18.381

19.569
___________

Other comprehensive income /(loss) for the year, net of tax

18.058
___________

Total comprehensive loss for the year

(97.354)
___________
(97.090)
___________

(281.116)

(372.603)

===========

===========

Attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Total comprehensive loss for the year

(281.116)

(372.603)

___________

___________

(281.116)

(372.603)

===========

===========

Items in the statement above are disclosed net of tax.

The notes on pages 9 to 52 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
5

Brunswick Rail Limited and its subsidiary companies

Consolidated balance sheet
2015
US$000

2014
US$000

302.643
4.980
66.913
4.474
379.010

637.241
7.064
15.826
660.131

396
861
13.453
1.827
243
67.315
84.095
463.105

103
389
13.899
1.524
1.282
323
72.910
90.430
750.561

23
23
23
24

271.895
120.880
(12.199)
(193.399)
(489.049)
(301.872)

265.223
120.095
(12.837)
(211.714)
(183.203)
(22.436)

25
30

599.236
86.768
686.004

663.629
75.026
738.655

27

6.316
85
3.568
1.633
67.371
78.973
764.977
463.105

5.566
118
5.089
18
23.551
34.342
772.997
750.561

Note
Assets
Non-current assets
Equipment
Finance leases receivable
Deferred income tax asset
Other non-current assets
Current assets
VAT recoverable
Advances paid for rail tariffs
Trade and other receivables
Finance leases receivable
Derivative financial instruments
Current income tax prepayment
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Equity deficit and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital
Share premium
Treasury shares
Other reserves
Accumulated losses
Total equity deficit
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Mezzanine
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current income tax liabilities
VAT payable
Other taxes payable
Borrowings

18
19
21

20
19
26
22

25

Total liabilities
Total equity deficit and liabilities

On 4 March 2016, the Board of Directors of Brunswick Rail Limited authorised these consolidated financial statements for
issue.

Anders Lidefelt, Director

Paul Ostling, Director

The notes on pages 9 to 52 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Attributable to owners of the parent

Share
capital/
share premium/
treasury shares
Note
US$000

Balance at 1 January 2014

349.534

Comprehensive income:
Loss for the year

-

Total other comprehensive loss

_________
_________

Total comprehensive loss
Transactions with owners
Issue of preference shares
Transaction costs attributable to issue
of preference shares
Issue of preference deferral share capital 2
Share based payment
Transfer of treasury shares to employees
Shares acquired for the former CEO and CEO,
former Chairman plan
Transfer of share-based compensation
reserve to retained earnings upon vesting
Dividends declared 1

23
23

345.822

(275.513)

(275.513)

_________
(275.513)
_________

(97.090)
_________
(372.603)
_________

(97.090)
__________
(97.090)
__________
-

-

11, 23

(28.055)

-

_________

(1.629)
_________

1.629
(15.199)
__________

(15.199)
_________

(2.007)

(16.595)

4.345

_________

_________

__________

__________

372.481

(211.714)

(183.203)

(22.436)

(299.174)

(299.174)

__________
(299.174)
__________

18.058
__________
(281.116)
__________

11

22.947

-

Total other comprehensive income

__________
__________

Total comprehensive loss

23
11
11, 23

6.672
-

(3.025)
-

50.000

11
23

Comprehensive income:
Loss for the year

Balance at 31 December 2015

108.905

(112.617)

321
(699)

Balance at 31 December 2014/
1 January 2015

Total contribution from and distribution
to owners of the Company

Total
US$000

(2.722)
3.025
699

Total contribution from and distribution
to owners of the Company

Transactions with owners
Issue of preference deferral share capital 3
Share based payment
Unwinding the reallocation of the former
CEO’s loan

50.000

Other
reserves
US$000

(Accumulated
losses)/
retained
earnings
US$000

-

18.058
_________
18.058
_________
257

(6.672)
-

(2.722)
321
(28.055)

257

1.423
__________

_________

__________

1.423
__________

8.095
__________
380.576
__________

257
_________
(193.399)
_________

(6.672)
__________
(489.049)
__________

1.680
__________
(301.872)
__________

¹

The total gross amount of dividends declared of US$15.562 thousand comprises US$14.000 thousand with respect to ordinary shares and
US$1.562 thousand with respect to outstanding Preference Shares. It is presented net of a US$269 thousand dividend declared which related to LTIP
shares held by a subsidiary entity.

² The cumulative dividend of approximately US$3.025 thousand in respect of outstanding Preference Shares was deferred and capitalised through
an issuance of 3,024,658 Deferral Shares.

³ The cumulative dividends of 30 June 2015 and 31 December 2015 of approximately US$6.672 thousand in respect of outstanding Preference
Shares and Deferral Shares, were deferred and capitalised through an issuance of 6,671,957 Deferral Shares (Note 23).

The notes on pages 9 to 52 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Provision for bad debts
Profit on disposal of assets
Gain from sale of doubtful debt
Impairment losses on railcars
Write-off of capitalized services associated with preparation to a potential
IPO process
Finance income
Finance costs
Hedging with non-derivatives effect
Revaluation of embedded derivatives on mezzanine
Net foreign exchange losses
Net foreign exchange differences reclassified on de-designation of hedge
Share-based compensation

Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables
Finance leases receivable
Trade and other payables
Taxes payable other than income tax and VAT
VAT (paid)/received (net)
Cash generated from operations
Income tax paid
Net cash generated by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of railcars including prepayments
Purchase of other tangible assets
Purchase of wheel sets
VAT received from tax authorities
VAT paid on purchase of railcars and wheel sets
Proceeds from disposal of assets
Interest received
Net cash from /(used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Share buy back
Issuance of preference shares
Transaction costs attributable to issue of preference shares
Loans granted to former CEO and CEO, former Chairman as part of a long
term incentive plan
Repayment of loans granted to former CEO and CEO, former Chairman as
part of a long term incentive plan
Proceeds from bank borrowings
Repayments of bank and other borrowings
Transaction costs paid on borrowings
Interest and commitment fees paid on borrowings
Capital review project costs
Finance leases liabilities – principal repayments
VAT paid on finance lease liabilities
Dividends paid
Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

18
9

18

13
13
14
26
14
11

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

(358.275)

(325.510)

35.521
9.207
(431)
165.043

56.148
11.111
(1.255)
(1.590)
14.229

(5.714)
68.644
(300)
173.990
263
___________
87.948

568
(1.083)
68.308
22.976
3.586
183.475
129.155
517
___________
160.635

(11.914)
1.781
3.449
1.618
(674)
___________
82.208
(563)
___________
81.645
___________

(20.297)
1.586
33
(1.205)
26.584
___________
167.336
(584)
___________
166.752
___________

(40)
(3.327)
(444)
883
4.355
___________
1.427
___________

(89.338)
(5.128)
10.241
(14.505)
14.335
947
___________
(83.448)
___________

-

(3.118)
50.000
(2.155)

-

(28.775)

(6.350)
(52.467)
(3.930)
(1.023)
(302)
___________
(64.072)
___________
19.000
72.910
(24.595)
___________
67.315
===========

The notes on pages 9 to 52 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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567
151.831
(42.000)
(2.517)
(51.021)
(102.110)
(19.869)
(15.292)
___________
(64.459)
___________
18.845
62.626
(8.561)
___________
72.910
===========

Brunswick Rail Limited and its subsidiary companies

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
1

General information

Introduction
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared for the year ended 31 December 2015 for
Brunswick Rail Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards.
Country of incorporation
The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as a private limited liability company in accordance with the
provisions of the section 14 of the Companies Act 1981. Its registered office is at Wessex House, 2nd Floor,
45 Reid Street, Hamilton HM 12, Bermuda.
Principal activities
The Group’s principal activity is leasing of railcars in the “1520 gauge territory” (the railway territory of Russian
Federation and CIS), and transportation services mainly within the Russian Federation territory using both own
and leased railcars as well as railcars provided by third party carriers.
These consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors (“the
Board”) on 4 March 2016.

2

Basis of preparation

(a)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for certain financial instruments that are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policy below.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates and requires Management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 6.
(b)

Going concern

During 2015 there was a continued deterioration in the market environment due to the lingering effects of
railcar overproduction and inadequate write-offs in recent years, as well as the impact of falling rail
transportation volumes. The industry downturn has been severe and is continuing.
As a result, spot daily rates reached unprecedented lows during the reporting period and despite some recent
positive changes, remain severely depressed. The Group’s share of USD contracts has substantially decreased
from 52 percent during 2014 to 32 percent in December 2015. The Group has therefore become a primarily
RUB-revenue generating business and Management expects revenues to become almost entirely RUBdenominated over the next two years as USD-denominated contracts expire.
Clients’ payment discipline also continued to deteriorate during the reporting period, with an increasing
number of clients seeking to renegotiate contractual terms, including to renegotiate lease rates to closer to
prevailing spot rates levels denominated in Roubles, on the threat of non-payment. In addition, clients’
willingness to enter into new multi-year operating leases on terms acceptable to the Group is becoming
increasingly strained. A substantial part of the currently valid lease contracts with rates above spot market in
total for approximately 5,5 thousand railcars will expire in 2016.
The Group suffered a net loss for the year ended 31 December 2015 of approximately US$299.2 million
compared to a loss of approximately US$275.5 million suffered in 2014. Adjusted EBITDA for the year ended
31 December 2015 was approximately US$80.4 million, 48 percent lower than 2014, as a result of the lease
rate decreases and the sharp further depreciation of RUB against the USD in 2015 (Note 33).
While Management is taking measures that seek to sustain the Group’s business and long-term viability, the
continuation of the weak and unstable business environment has severely impacted the Group’s profitability
and creates material uncertainties over its future viability.
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2
(b)

Basis of preparation (continued)
Going concern (continued)

During the reporting period, the Group breached certain financial and non-financial covenants under its
syndicated loan facility for which it was unable to obtain (or retain initially granted) waivers. In view of this
challenging situation, in December 2015, OOO Brunswick Rail, the Group’s Russian subsidiary, and Alfa-Leasing
LLC signed a term sheet for the provision of two new sale and leaseback facilities. The agreement for the first
sale and leaseback facility was signed on 28 December 2015 and the transaction was completed, followed by
the drawdown, on 18 January 2016. On the same day OOO Brunswick Rail used the proceeds of this sale and
leaseback facility, together with its own cash to repay fully its existing syndicated facility (Note 31). There was
consequently no acceleration of the syndicated loan facility. As a result no cross-default event of default was
triggered under the Eurobonds or the Group’s other indebtedness.
The Group has prepared a base case cash flow forecast which indicates that the Group’s liquidity position
allows discharging its obligations in due course during the twelve months beginning on 1 January 2016.
The following key assumptions were used:
•

full repayment of the existing syndicated facility, which subsequently occurred on 18 January 2016
as described above;

•

a RUB/USD exchange rate of 73.0 RUB/USD;

•

the ability of all of the Group’s clients to settle their obligations in due course; and

•

the contract terms with the Group’s clients will not substantially change compared to the terms as of
31 December 2015 and none of the contracts will be cancelled or renegotiated (other than the
potential for cancellations or renegotiations already incorporated in the cash flow forecast).

The cash flow forecast has demonstrated high level of sensitivity to the above assumptions. The cash flow
forecast is particularly sensitive to changes in exchange rates, liquidity of customers and management’s ability
to renegotiate contracts when they expire. The Group may face liquidity problems in case of significant changes
of the above assumptions.
Management believes that the base case scenario represents the most probable outcome and accordingly
these consolidated financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis.

3

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented in these consolidated financial
statements unless otherwise stated.
Consolidation
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:
•

has power over the investee;

•

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

•

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the date the Company
gains control until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to non-controlling interests, where applicable. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the noncontrolling interests having a deficit balance.

10
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Consolidation (continued)
Subsidiaries (continued)
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries. Identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured at their fair
values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest.
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but considered an impairment indicator of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.
Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activities, net of value added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after
eliminating sales within the Group.
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities
as described below. Revenues earned by the Group are recognized on the following bases:
(a)

Operating lease income
Operating lease income arises from two types of lease contracts; triple-net and full service lease
contracts. Under the triple-net lease, the lessee accepts full responsibility for depot repairs whereas
under the full-service lease contract, the Group is responsible for depot repairs. Under both types of
leases, income is recognized over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis.

(b)

Finance lease income
Lease income under finance leases is recognized over the term of the lease using the net investment
method which reflects a constant periodic rate of return.

(c)

Revenue from railway transportation services
Net revenue generated from freight rail transportation is defined as “transportation services income”.
Revenue is presented net of OAO “Russian Railways” tariffs as the Group has a contractual relationship
with the client and sets the selling and payment terms of the transaction excluding the OAO “Russian
Railways” tariff. Net revenue is recognized in accordance to the stage of completion of the journey.

(d)

Interest income
Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method. When
a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the
estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and
continues unwinding the discount as interest income.

(e)

Other income
All other fees, commissions and other income items are generally recorded on an accrual basis by
reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided
as a proportion of the total services to be provided.

Foreign currency translation
(a)

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”) which is the Russian Rouble (“RUB”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in US Dollar (“USD”) which is the Group’s presentation currency as this is the currency considered
most appropriate by the Group’s investors.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)
(b)

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at yearend exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognized in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges.

(c)

Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of
a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as follows:
(i)

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

(ii)

share capital and reserves are translated at historic exchange rates;

(iii)

income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates
(unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the
dates of the transactions); and

(iv)

all resulting exchange differences are recognized in other comprehensive income and
accumulated as a separate component of equity.

The closing rates used are the exchange rates established by the Central Bank of the Russian
Federation, effective at each balance sheet date. For income and expenses the transactions are being
recalculated into USD, using the average monthly rate of exchange. The exchange rates effective at
31 December 2015 and 2014 were RUB 72.88 for 1 USD and RUB 56.26 for 1 USD respectively.
The annual average exchange rates for the years 2015 and 2014 were RUB 60.96 for 1 USD and
RUB 38.42 for 1 USD respectively.
Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the income statement,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In
this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
The current income tax is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantially enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. If applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation, it
establishes provisions where appropriate, on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred income tax is recognized using the balance sheet liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred income tax
assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which
the temporary differences can be offset.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income
taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the Company’s subsidiaries where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis. Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments
in subsidiaries, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Segment reporting
The business has been considered from a product perspective and Management has determined, based on the
reports reviewed by the Board of Directors, that there is one operating segment being engaged in a railcar
business in the form of lease rentals and transportation services.
Employee benefits
(a)

Bonus plan
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses. The Group recognises a provision when
contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

(b)

Equity-settled share-based compensation
Where a bonus plan falls under the provisions of IFRS 2 “Share-based payment” and the definition of
equity-settled share-based payment transactions, the fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the award shares is recognized as an expense. The Group recognises the fair
value of the services received by the employees by reference to the grant date fair value of the shares.
The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value
of the award shares granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example,
profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of award shares that are expected to vest. At each balance sheet date, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of award shares that are expected to vest. It recognises the impact
of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a corresponding adjustment
to equity. The share-based compensation reserve balance is transferred to retained earnings upon
transfer of the shares to employees.

(c)

Cash-settled share-based compensation
Where a bonus plan falls under the definition of cash-settled share-based payment transactions, an
option pricing model is used to value the benefit for the employees based on the fact that, even
though this is a cash-settled share based payment, it can only be measured based on a share price
valuation model. The liability is measured initially and re-measured at the end of each reporting period
until settled, at the fair value, by applying this option pricing model. The expense is recognized in each
reporting period based on the option value calculated at the end of each reporting period allocated on
a time apportioned basis over the expected service period of the employees.

Equipment
The Group’s equipment comprises mostly railcars, wheelsets, furniture and fixtures and computer equipment
which are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment where
required. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of equipment. Each
part of an item of equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated
separately.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred. An asset’s carrying amount is written down to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are
recognized in the income statement.
Depreciation for both wheelsets and railcars is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost
to their residual values, over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life of wheelsets is 5-9 years and
of the remaining part of the railcar is 22-40 years, depending on the type of railcar. Furniture and fixtures and
computer equipment are also depreciated using the straight-line method.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Equipment (continued)
The annual depreciation rates are as follows:
%
Railcars
Wheelsets
Furniture and fixtures
Computer equipment

2,50 – 4,55
11,11 – 20,00
4,00 – 32,00
8,00 – 48,00

Revisions of the residual value and useful economic life of every asset are made at each reporting date. In case
any of the estimates changes, the new estimate is applied prospectively with the effect shown in the current
year and future accounting periods, where necessary.
Prepayments
Prepayments are carried at cost less provision for impairment. A prepayment is classified as non-current when
the goods or services relating to the prepayment are expected to be obtained after one year, or when the
prepayment relates to an asset which will itself be classified as non-current upon initial recognition.
Other prepayments are written off to profit or loss when the goods or services relating to the prepayments are
received. If there is an indication that the assets, goods or services relating to a prepayment will not be
received, the carrying value of the prepayment is written down accordingly and a corresponding impairment
loss is recognized in profit or loss for the year.
Operating leases in which the Group is a lessee
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. In these situations the Group is considered to be the lessee. Payments made
under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
Cost of services
The cost of services includes depot repairs, transportation services subcontracted, other transportation
services costs and other railcar expenses. Expenditures are charged to the income statement of the year in
which they are incurred.
Depot repairs
The first depot repairs are performed within two to three years from production, depending on the railcar type.
Thereafter depot repairs are performed every one to two years. To optimise the repair schedule, the Group
often uses a mileage based system, where the railcar’s time of repair is determined by the distance
travelled. Expenditures for depot repairs are charged to the income statement of the year in which they are
incurred.
Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to depreciation or amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment. Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units, “CGUs”)), being the type of rolling stock. Non-financial assets
that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversals of the impairment at each reporting date.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Leases in which the Group is a lessor
A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee, in return of a payment or series of
payments, the right to use an asset for an agreed period of time.
(a)

Finance leases
Where the Group is a lessor in a lease which transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to ownership to the lessee, the assets leased out are presented as a finance lease receivable and
carried at the present value of the future lease payments. Finance lease receivables are initially
recognized at commencement (when the lease term begins) using a discount rate determined at
inception (the earlier of the date of the lease agreement and the date of commitment by the parties to
the principal provisions of the lease).
The difference between the gross receivables and the present value represents unearned finance
income (Note 19). This income is recognized over the term of the lease using the net investment
method (before tax), which reflects a constant periodic rate of return. Incremental costs directly
attributable to negotiating and arranging the lease are included in the initial measurement of the
finance lease receivable and reduce the amount of income recognized over the lease term.
Impairment of finance lease receivables is recognized in the income statement when incurred as
a result of one or more events (“loss events”) that occurred after the initial recognition of finance
lease receivables. Impairment losses are recognized through an allowance account to write down the
receivables’ net carrying amount to the present value of expected cash flows (which exclude future
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the interest rates implicit in the finance
leases. The estimated future cash flows reflect the cash flows that may result from obtaining and
selling the assets subject to the lease.

(b)

Operating leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the Group
are classified as operating leases and the assets are included in the balance sheet under ‘Equipment’.
In these situations the Group is considered to be the lessor.

Hedging activities with derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently re-measured at their fair value. The method of recognizing the resulting gain or loss depends on
whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the item being hedged.
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedges of a particular risk associated with a recognized liability
(cash flow hedge).
The Group documents, at the inception of the transaction, the relationship between hedging
instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various
hedge transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an on-going
basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes
in the fair value and/or cash flows of the hedged items attributable to the hedged risk and whether actual
results are within a range of 80 – 125 per cent.
The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining
maturity of the hedged item is more than twelve months; it is classified as a current asset or liability when the
remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than twelve months.
The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in Note 26.
Movements in the hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity are shown in Note 24.
Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges are recognized in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognized immediately in the income statement within finance costs.
Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled from OCI to the income statement (within finance costs) in the
periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss.
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Hedging activities with derivative financial instruments (continued)
Cash flow hedge (continued)
When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in OCI at that time remains in OCI and is recognized when the
forecast transaction is ultimately recognized in the income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer
expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in OCI is immediately transferred from OCI to
the income statement within finance costs.
Hedging activities with non-derivative financial liabilities
On initial designation of the non-derivative as the hedging instrument, the Group formally documents the
relationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item. This includes the risk management
objectives and hedging strategy in undertaking the hedge transaction and the hedged risk, together with the
methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedge.
The Group needs to assess effectiveness both prospectively, at the inception of the hedge relationship, and
retrospectively at each reporting period to assess whether the hedging instrument is expected to be highly
effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value and/or cash flows of the hedged items attributable to the
hedged risk and whether actual results are within a range of 80 – 125 per cent.
For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction should be highly probable to occur and should
present an exposure to variations in cash flows that could ultimately affect reported profit or loss. The hedged
highly probable forecast revenue transactions denominated in foreign currency are expected to occur on
a quarterly basis during the designated period of the hedge.
Cash flow hedge
When a non-derivative is designated as the hedging instrument in a hedge of variable cash flows attributable to
a foreign currency risk associated with a highly probable forecast transaction that could affect profit or loss, the
effective portion of foreign exchange gains or losses on the non-derivative that is designated and qualifies as a
cash flow hedge is recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated in hedging reserve in equity.
Any ineffective portion is recognized immediately in the income statement within foreign exchange gains or
losses.
Foreign exchange gains or losses accumulated in equity are recycled from OCI to the income statement in the
periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. The gain or loss recycled is recognized in the income
statement within revenues with a corresponding entry to other comprehensive income.
When a hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria of hedge accounting, or it expires or is sold or the
designation is revoked, hedge accounting is discontinued prospectively. Any cumulative gain or loss existing in
equity at that time remains in equity and is recognized when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognized
in the income statement (as a reclassification from other comprehensive income). If the forecast transaction is
no longer expected to occur, the balance in equity is reclassified to the income statement within “Net foreign
exchange differences reclassified on de-designation of hedge”.
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the original terms of receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, the probability that
the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more
than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the
provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through
the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognized in the income statement. When
a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in the income statement.
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VAT
Output value added tax related to sales is payable to the tax authorities on the earlier of (a) collection of the
receivables from customers or (b) delivery of the goods or services to customers. Input VAT is generally
recoverable against output VAT upon receipt of the VAT invoice. The tax authorities permit the settlement of
VAT on a net basis. VAT related to sales and purchases is recognized in the balance sheet on a gross basis and
disclosed separately as an asset and liability. Where a provision has been made for impairment of receivables,
impairment loss is recorded for the gross amount of the debtor, including VAT.
Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity as neither they are redeemable nor include an obligation for the Group
to pay dividends.
Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted from equity
attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are
subsequently reissued any consideration received net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs
and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders.
Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the par value of shares issued is recorded as Share
Premium in equity.
Borrowings
Financial instruments which include an obligation to pay interest and/or principal, such as borrowings are
recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at
amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is
recognized in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest rate method.
The effective interest method is a method of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period, so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest (effective interest rate) on the carrying amount. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (excluding
future credit losses) through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, if appropriate, to
the net carrying amount of the financial instrument.
The effective interest rate discounts cash flows of variable interest instruments to the next interest repricing
date, except for the premium or discount which reflects the credit spread over the floating rate specified in the
instrument, or other variables that are not reset to market rates. Such premiums or discounts are amortised
over the whole expected life of the instrument. The present value calculation includes all fees paid or received
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
In relation to the Group’s instruments with variable cash flows, the Group applies the accounting policy of
(a) recognizing borrowing costs on an accrual basis and (b) amortizing transaction costs incurred on the
syndicated loan facility on a straight-line basis over the period of the loan.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. To the extent there is evidence that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the facility fee is accounted for as a transaction
cost under IAS 39. The facility fee is deferred in full and treated as a transaction cost when draw down occurs.
It is not amortised prior to the draw down. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the facility fee is capitalized as a prepayment for services and amortised
over the period of the facility to which it relates. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the balance sheet
date.
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Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
Mezzanine
The mezzanine is a hybrid financial instrument which includes both a non-derivative host contract and
embedded derivatives. The embedded derivatives identified in the agreement are (i) a right for the holder of
the facility to request a conversion of the outstanding balance of the facility into shares in the Company and (ii)
a prepayment option for the issuer under which the Company can, under certain conditions, elect to early
repay the facility.
An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid instrument that causes some or all of the cash flows that
otherwise would be required by the contract to be modified according to a specified interest rate, financial
instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index,
or other variable.
The Company has assessed that the embedded derivatives are not closely related to the economic
characteristics and risks of the host contract and therefore are accounted for separately as derivatives under
the provisions of IAS 39. As a result, the embedded derivatives are fair valued at each reporting date and
changes in the fair value of the derivatives are recognized in the income statement.
The fair value of the host contract is the fair value of the instrument at the inception less the fair value of the
embedded derivatives. The host contract is accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest method
which is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and allocating the interest expense
over the relevant period of the loan.
When calculating the effective interest rate, the Company estimates cash flows considering all the contractual
terms of the financial instrument and the calculation includes all fees paid, transaction costs, and all other
premiums or discounts. Only cash flows that can be estimated reliably are included in the calculation.
Finance lease payables in which the Group is a lessee
Lease of equipment where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the
leased assets and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Each lease payment is allocated between
the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in borrowings. The interest element of
the finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
Upon settlement or refinancing, the finance leases are derecognised and any gain or loss arising on settlement
or refinancing is recognized immediately in the income statement within finance costs and income.
Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.
Cash and cash equivalents
Bank balances which are restricted under the financing facilities are excluded from cash and cash equivalents
for the purposes of the cash flow statement. The movement in the restricted bank balances is shown in the
cash flow statement as part of financing activities. Cash and cash equivalents include deposits held at call with
banks. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost.
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New standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards

Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations
In the current year, the following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have been adopted and have
affected the amounts reported in these financial statements:
•
•
•

Amendments to IAS 19 - Defined Benefit Plans: Employee contributions;
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle;
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle;

The adoption of these new and revised standards and interpretations did not have a significant effect on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:


IFRS 9 Financial Instruments3;



IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers3;



IFRS 16 Leases4



Amendments to IFRS 11 - Accounting for Acquisition of Interests in Joint Operations1;



Amendments to IAS 1 – Disclosure Initiative1;



Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 - Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation1;



Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 - Agriculture: Bearer Plants1;



Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture5;



Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 – Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation
Exception1;



IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts1;



Amendments to IAS 27 - Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements1;



Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle1;



Amendments to IAS 12 – Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses 2;

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, with earlier application permitted.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017, with earlier application permitted.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with earlier application permitted.
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, with earlier application permitted.
5 The amendment was initially issued in September 2014 with the effective date on 1 January 2016. In December 2015 the
IASB deferred the effective date of the amendments indefinitely until the research project on the equity method has been
concluded.
2

Early adoption is permitted for all new or amended standards and interpretations. IFRS 16 can be early adopted
if IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers has also been applied.
Management is currently considering the potential impact of the adoption of these Standards and
amendments. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of their effect until a detailed
review has been completed.
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(continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
The key requirements of IFRS 9 are:

20



Classification and measurement of financial assets. All recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are required to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business
model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured
at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt instruments that are held within
a business model whose objective is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets, and that have contractual terms that give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are generally measured
at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at their fair value at the
end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under IFRS 9, entities may make an irrevocable
election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for
trading) in other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally recognised in profit or
loss.



Classification and measurement of financial liabilities. With regard to the measurement of financial
liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss, IFRS 9 requires that the amount of change
in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability
is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the
liability's credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch
in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability's credit risk are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under IAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair
value of the financial liability designated as fair value through profit or loss is presented in profit or
loss.



Impairment. In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss
model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under IAS 39. The expected credit loss model
requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no
longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised.



Hedge accounting. The new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge
accounting mechanisms currently available in IAS 39. Under IFRS 9, greater flexibility has been
introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifically broadening the types
of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types of risk components of non-financial
items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In addition, the effectiveness test has been overhauled
and replaced with the principle of an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective assessment of hedge
effectiveness is also no longer required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk
management activities have also been introduced.
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New standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards
(continued)

New and revised IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
IFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18
Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods and services. Specifically, the standard provides a single, principles based
five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers.
The five steps in the model are as follows:



Identify the contract with the customer



Identify the performance obligations in the contract



Determine the transaction price



Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contracts



Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when or as a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15.
IFRS 16 Leases
IFRS 16 Leases brings most leases on-balance sheet for lessees under a single model, eliminating the distinction
between operating and finance leases. Lessor accounting however remains largely unchanged and the
distinction between operating and finance leases is retained.
Under IFRS 16 a lessee recognises a right-of-use asset and the lease liability. The right-of-use asset is treated
similarly to other non-financial assets and depreciated accordingly and the liability accrues interest. The lease
liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term,
discounted at the rate implicit in the lease, or if that cannot be readily determined, the lessee shall use their
incremental borrowing rate.
As with IAS 17, lessors classify leases as operating of finance in nature. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset. Otherwise,
a lease is classified as an operating lease. For finance leases a lessor recognises finance income over the lease
term, based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment. A lessor
recognises operating lease payments as income on a straight-line basis or, if more representative of the pattern
in which benefit from use of the underlying asset is diminished, another systematic basis.
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Financial risk management

(a)

Financial risk factors
The Group's activities expose it to certain financial risks:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

Market risk
Credit risk
Liquidity and interest rate risk

The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance. The Group used
derivative and non-derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.
Risk management is carried out by the Group’s Management under policies approved by the Board.
(i)

Market risk
Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk of a negative impact on the value or earnings of the Group
caused by fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk
arising from fluctuation in the exchange rates between the RUB and the USD. The foreign
exchange losses debited to the income statement amount to US$173.990 thousand (foreign
exchange losses 2014: US$312.630 thousand, including US$129.155 thousand of foreign
exchange differences reclassified on de-designation of hedge).
As at 31 December 2015, if the RUB had strengthened / weakened by 20 per cent relative to the
USD with all other variables held constant, post-tax loss for the year would have been
US$139.414 thousand higher/lower mainly as a result of foreign exchange differences on
translation of USD-denominated borrowings. As at 31 December 2014, if the RUB had
strengthened / weakened by 20 per cent relative to the USD with all other variables held
constant, post-tax loss for the year would have been US$137.841 thousand higher/lower mainly
as a result of foreign exchange differences on translation of USD-denominated borrowings.
No foreign exchange gains/(losses) would be recorded within other comprehensive income
as a result of the total de-designation of hedge by the end of 2014.

(ii) Credit risk
Credit risk arises when a failure by counterparties to discharge their obligations could reduce the
amount of future cash inflows from the Group assets, whether in the form of deposits with banks
and financial institutions or in the form of lease agreements with clients.
For short-term deposits and cash on current account, credit risk is managed by using only
reputable counterparties with independent credit ratings. The Group holds the majority of its
cash reserves with UniCredit Bank and ING.
The Group has established a policy which describes the process by which new lease clients shall
be accepted. A cornerstone in the policy is the performance of an evaluation of all new clients
and transactions taking into account the financial strength of the lessee, the quality of the leased
equipment and transaction structure.
There are several criteria which are used to control customer credit risk including:
 minimum lessee criteria which categorize customers/lessees between A and B categories,
 equipment classification between liquid, semi-liquid and illiquid based on which maximum
portfolio exposure on each class is monitored and controlled (as the Group needs to be
able to remarket its railcars in the secondary market, it classifies its railcar fleet in terms of
liquidity by looking (i) at the number of railcars and (ii) the number of users of each railcar
type in the Russian market and based on a number of predetermined thresholds, the
Group classifies its railcars accordingly),
 portfolio concentration limits including single lessee exposure (not more than 20 per cent
of total portfolio except in the case of one client for which the limit is 30 per cent of total
portfolio) and single industry exposure (not more than 35 per cent, except for the
transportation industry where the exposure can be 60 per cent).
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Financial risk management (continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(ii)

Credit risk (continued)
The limits above have been set by the Credit Policy of the Group approved by the Board. The
Credit Committee consists of three members of the Board and senior Management of the
Group who are empowered to deal and present to the Credit Committee the transactions for
approval.
Depending on the level of transaction and the exposure on a single client, the transaction may
be approved only by senior Management or may, in case the aggregate exposure to the lessee
exceeds US$10 million, require the approval of the Board members of the Credit Committee
who have the right to veto the transaction.
For the credit qualities of financial assets refer to Note 16(b).
None of the Group’s financial assets are either past due or impaired except for trade
receivable balances of US$22.172 thousand as of 31 December 2015 (2014: US$10.911
thousand) (Note 20). As at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 the Group did not have
any credit related commitments.

(iii)

Liquidity and interest rate risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to settle all liabilities as they fall due.
The Group’s liquidity position is carefully monitored and managed by the treasury function
(Note 2).
The Group earns its income primarily through the rentals received on its leased fleet of
railcars. All rental levels, expressed as a daily rental rate payable per railcar, are agreed at the
start either as a fixed rate throughout the contract term or, in some cases, with periodical
predefined increases or decreases with the mutual consent of the parties or, in some cases,
with a unilateral right for the Group to adjust the rate upwards in the event market rates have
increased.
The Group’s interest exposure during the reporting period primarily arose in respect of its
RUB-denominated syndicated loan. The Group managed its interest rate exposure on the
syndicated loan until August 2015 through the use of interest rate swaps through which it
converted floating interest payments to a fixed rate interest. By doing so, it mitigated the risk
of fluctuations in the interest cost on the debt caused by changes in the market interest rates.
As a consequence, the effect on profit or loss and on the equity of a change in the interest
rates on RUB-denominated borrowings, with all other variables held constant, has not been
material. The syndicated loan facility was fully repaid on 18 January 2016 (Note 31).
The table below summarizes the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk as at 31 December
2015 and 31 December 2014, presenting the aggregated amounts of the Group’s liabilities
at carrying amounts, and showing how those financial liabilities become or would have
become due and payable. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.
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Financial risk management (continued)

(a)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(iii)

Liquidity and interest rate risk (continued)
Effective
interest rate
%

At 31 December 2015
Non-interest bearing
Finance lease liabilities
Variable interest rate
instruments:
- Shareholder loan
- Syndicated loan
Fixed interest rate
instruments:
- Eurobond
- Mezzanine

At 31 December 2014
Non-interest bearing
Finance lease liabilities
Variable interest rate
instruments
- Shareholder loan
- Syndicated loan
Fixed interest rate
instruments:
- Eurobond
- Mezzanine

Less than
1 year
US$000

1 to 3
years
US$000

3 to 5
years
US$000

Over
5 years
US$000

Total
US$000

Carrying
amount
US$000

4.912
1.675

1.866

933

-

4.912
4.474

4.912
3.466

5.583

3.575

-

-

9.158

8.414

59.731

-

-

-

59.731

54.562

39.000
13.466
_______
124.367
=======

639.000
26.857
_______
671.298
=======

114.678
_______
115.611
=======

_______
=======

678.000
155.001
_________
911.276
=========

600.165
86.768
_______
758.287
=======

3.664
1.763

3.297

1.209

605

3.664
6.874

3.664
4.951

3.237%
12.30% 14.28%

14.839

-

-

-

14.839

14.740

11.161

76.459

-

-

87.620

70.335

7.216%
15.652%

39.000
11.656
_______
82.083
=======

678.000
23.344
_______
781.100
=======

23.312
_______
24.521
=======

87.883
_______
88.488
=======

717.000
146.195
_________
976.192
=========

597.154
75.026
_______
765.870
=======

5.488%
14.26% 19.50%

7.216%
15.652%

Management believes that the financial assets are not relevant to the exposure to interest rate risk
analysis as they are not considered as assets generating revenue and consist mainly of short term bank
placements and finance lease receivables.
(b)

Leverage ratio management
The Group’s leverage ratio at 31 December 2015 and 2014 was calculated as follows:

Net debt
Adjusted EBITDA (unaudited)
Leverage ratio

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

599.292
__________

614.270
__________

80.050

130.288

__________

__________

7.49x
==========

4,71x
==========

The Group has historically monitored its consolidated maintenance leverage ratio (“leverage ratio”),
on a semi-annual basis. The leverage ratio was defined in the syndicated loan facility agreement signed
in 2014 as the Group’s Net debt (defined as consolidated indebtedness, excluding mezzanine facility,
less cash and cash equivalents) divided by the annualized aggregate Adjusted EBITDA of the two most
recent financial quarters (the Adjusted EBITDA presented herein differs from the annual Adjusted
EBITDA presented in Note 33). Under the syndicated loan facility agreement, the ratio should be not
more than 4,75x as at the end of any relevant financial period. The Group was in breach of the
aforementioned financial covenant in respect of the six months ended 30 June 2015 and the Group’s
Adjusted EBITDA for the full year ended 31 December 2015 would have entailed continued breach.
The syndicated loan facility was fully repaid on 18 January 2016 (Note 31).
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Financial risk management (continued)

(c)

Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on
market conditions existing at each balance sheet date. The Group uses mainly estimated discounted
cash flow models to determine the fair value for the financial instruments which are not traded in an
active market.
The carrying values less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to
approximate their fair values. The fair value of not traded financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is
available to the Group for similar financial instruments and is disclosed in Note 25.
The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value at
31 December 2015 and 2014:
31 December 2015
Assets
Derivative financial instruments – interest rate swaps
Total assets

Level 2
US$000
__________
==========
Level 3
US$000

Liabilities
Embedded derivatives on mezzanine
Total liabilities

31 December 2014
Assets
Derivative financial instruments – interest rate swaps
Total assets

Liabilities
Embedded derivatives on mezzanine
Total liabilities

__________
==========
Level 2
US$000
1.560
__________
1.560
==========

Total
balance
US$000
__________
==========
Total
balance
US$000
__________
==========
Total
balance
US$000

Level 3
US$000

1.560
__________
1.560
==========
Total
balance
US$000

278
__________
278
==========

278
__________
278
==========

Level 2: valuation based on observable inputs other than quoted prices, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (for example, as prices) or indirectly (for example, derived from prices).
Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.
(i)

Deferred income tax asset recognition
The recognized deferred income tax asset represents income taxes recoverable through future
deductions from taxable profits and is recorded in the balance sheet. Deferred income tax assets are
recorded to the extent that realisation of the related tax benefit is probable. The future taxable profits
and the amount of tax benefits that are probable in the future are based on the medium-term
business plan prepared by the Group’s Management and extrapolated results thereafter. The business
plan is based on the Group’s Management expectations that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. The valuation of deferred tax asset is highly sensitive to successful restructuring of the
Group’s existing debt.

(ii)

Impairment of equipment
The Group reviews equipment for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of these assets may not be recoverable. The Group measures the recoverability of
assets to be held and used by comparing the carrying amount of an asset to its estimated recoverable
amount, which is equal to the asset’s value in use. The value in use is calculated based on the future
discounted cash flows; these are based on a number of assumptions including: lease rates, lease term,
freight rates and volume, operating costs, the life of the asset and the discount rates. If the Group
determines that an asset is impaired, it records an impairment loss equal to the excess of the asset’s
carrying amount over its estimated recoverable amount.
As a result of equipment review for impairment as of 31 December 2015, the Group determined that
the carrying value of certain type of assets exceeded the recoverable amount of these assets
(determined using their value in use) and as a result, impairment losses in the amount of US$165.043
thousand were recorded in consolidated income statement (2014: impairment losses of US$14.229
thousand).

(iii)

Provision for doubtful debts
The Group’s trade receivables are regularly reviewed by Management. The facts and circumstances
relating to particular trade receivables are evaluated regularly in determining whether future
economic benefits will flow to the Group and, once established, whether a provision relating to a
specific trade receivable should be established or revised. Accordingly, significant management
judgement relating to provisions for doubtful debts is required, since the outcome of recovery is
difficult to predict.

(iv)

Useful lives of equipment
As described at the accounting policies in Note 3 above, the Group reviews the estimated useful lives
of equipment at the end of each reporting period. In case any of the estimates changes, the new
estimate is applied prospectively with the effect shown in the current year and future accounting
periods, where necessary. There was no revision of the estimated useful lives during the current year.
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Revenue

Full service operating leases
Triple‐net operating leases
Transportation services income
Finance leases

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

83.430
28.500
20.540
1.064

134.151
50.424
18.306
1.293

__________

Total external revenue pre hedging
Effect of hedging with non-derivatives

133.534
__________

Total external revenue post hedging

133.534
==========

8

__________

181.198
==========

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

10.223
9.278
2.298
268
11

15.435
6.094
2.709
210
192

_________

Total cost of services

22.078

_________

24.640

=========

=========

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

9.207
2.757
1.187
1.105
425
408
307
287
140
111
55

11.111
963
1.420
1.520
516
537
521
746
306
154
118

Other operating expenses

Provision for bad debts (Note 20)
Legal and other professional fees
Directors’ fees and expenses (Note 30)
Rent and related expenses
Travelling, accommodation and entertainment
Auditor’s remuneration
Other operating expenses
Consultancy fees
Advertising and marketing
Information technology costs
Communication costs
Write-off of capitalized professional services associated with
preparation to a potential IPO process

_________

Total other operating expenses

15.989
=========
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204.174
(22.976)

Cost of services

Depot repairs
Other transportation services expenses
Other railcar expenses
Railcar insurance
Transportation services subcontracted

9

__________

568
_________

18.480
=========
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Staff compensation, excluding share-based compensation

Salaries
Other staff costs
Bonuses
Medical insurance costs
Total staff costs

11

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

5.184
2.360
1.022
251
_________
8.817
=========

8.003
1.501
2.309
305
_________
12.118
=========

Share-based compensation

Long term incentive plan (“LTIP”)
During the current year no expense was accrued for the LTIP by the Group. Management considered prudent
to reverse during 2014 expenses recognized in prior years relating to share awards that have not been vested.
This resulted in a negative expense of US$1.345 thousand recognized during 2014.
Based on the above there are no share awards outstanding as at 31 December 2015 and 2014.
Other equity-settled bonuses
During the current year no equity-settled bonuses were accrued by the Group (2014: US$86 thousand). In 2014
the Group granted 258.696 Company shares to certain Group managers for their 2013 performance (Note 23).
No vesting conditions were attached to the aforementioned shares.
Management incentive plan (“MIP”)
The Group accrued an expense of US$231 thousand for the MIP for the year ended 31 December 2015
(2014: US$1.385 thousand) with a corresponding credit to a share based compensation reserve in equity.
No new share awards were granted during the year. On 31 December 2014, 439.883 share awards were
transferred to one of the applicable managers. There are 669.948 share awards outstanding as at 31 December
2015 and 2014.
Former Chief Executive Officer share plan (“former CEO share plan”)
The Group signed a share-based plan with the former CEO of the Group on 24 January 2014, which is the grant
date of the plan. The plan is based on the acquisition of approximately 8,5 million of the Company’s shares by
the former CEO (indirectly) from existing shareholders of the Group funded by both recourse and non-recourse
loans granted by the Group. The plan is interpreted by the Group’s Management to be an “equity-settled”
share-based plan under IFRS 2.
The respective amounts for the recourse and non-recourse loans were US$1.898 thousand and US$17.080
thousand based on loan agreements signed on 24 January 2014. Both loans are interest-bearing with
a maturity date of five years from the date of the agreement. The non-recourse loan is secured by the shares
acquired by the former CEO and the Group has recourse only to these shares pledged as collateral for the loan.
The arrangement in substance represents an option to buy shares of the Company which is assumed to be
exercised on 24 January 2015 and 1 June 2015 subject to the former CEO continuing to be employed by the
Group as at each of these vesting dates. The share-based plan was therefore valued using an option pricing
model and the option values calculated on each exercise date represent the fair value of the benefit.
The Group accrued an expense of US$28 thousand for the former CEO’s plan for the year ended 31 December
2015 (2014: US$156 thousand) with a corresponding credit to a share-based compensation reserve in equity.
The amount recognized as an expense was allocated over the two periods starting from the date of signing the
agreement and ending on each assumed option exercise date on a time-apportioned basis.
In December 2014, the Company’s Board approved the re-allocation of certain part of the original principal
amount of the recourse loan to the non-recourse loan. Following the approval, the amount recorded as loan
receivable on the consolidated balance sheet was reclassified to equity.
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Share-based compensation (continued)

Former Chief Executive Officer share plan (“former CEO share plan”) (continued)
On 29 September 2015, the Group announced changes in its key management. These changes ultimately
included termination of the Group’s CEO employment. This led to unwinding the re-allocation of the principal
amount of recourse loan to non-recourse loan and as a result, the amount previously reclassified to equity is
recorded as loan receivable (Note 23). The non-recourse and recourse loans are now due for repayment and
the Group is in discussions and correspondence with the former CEO as to the manner of repayment.
Chief Executive Officer / former Chairman of the Board plan (“CEO, former Chairman”)
The Group signed a share-based plan with the CEO (former Chairman) on 24 January 2014, which is the grant
date of the plan. The plan is based on the acquisition of approximately 4,3 million of the Company’s shares
by the CEO (former Chairman) (indirectly) from existing shareholders of the Group funded by both recourse
and non-recourse loans granted by the Group. The plan is interpreted by the Group’s Management to be
an “equity-settled” share-based plan under IFRS 2.
The respective amounts for the recourse and non-recourse loans were US$980 thousand and US$8.817
thousand based on loan agreements signed on 24 January 2014. Both loans are interest-bearing with
a maturity date of five years from the date of the agreement. The non-recourse loan is secured by the shares
acquired by the CEO (former Chairman) and the Group has recourse only to these shares pledged as collateral
for the loan.
The arrangement in substance represents an option to buy shares of the Company which is assumed to be
exercised on 24 January 2015 subject to the CEO (former Chairman) continuing to be a director of the Group as
at the vesting date. The share-based plan was therefore valued using an option pricing model and the option
value calculated on the exercise date represents the fair value of the benefit.
The Group accrued an expense of US$4 thousand for the CEO’s (former Chairman’s) plan for the year ended
31 December 2015 (2014: US$57 thousand) with a corresponding credit to a share-based compensation
reserve in equity. The amount recognized as an expense was allocated over the period starting from the date of
signing the agreement and ending on the assumed option exercise date on a time-apportioned basis.
In December 2014, the Company’s Board approved the re-allocation of certain part of the original principal
amount of the recourse loan to the non-recourse loan. Following the approval, the amount recorded as loan
receivable on the consolidated balance sheet was reclassified to equity.
The following table reconciles the share awards outstanding at the beginning and the end of the year:

Opening balance
LTIP / MIP
New awards granted
Former CEO share plan / CEO, former Chairman
Exercised / bought back during the year
LTIP / MIP / Former CEO share plan / CEO, former Chairman
Forfeited during the year
LTIP
Closing balance
MIP

29

2015
Number of
ordinary
shares

2014
Number of
ordinary
shares

669.948

4.264.744

-

12.778.493

-

14.391.351

_________
669.948
=========

1.981.938
_________
669.948
=========
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Share-based compensation (continued)

The total share-based compensation expense recorded in the income statement was calculated as follows:
Equity-settled:
Management incentive plan (“MIP”)
Former CEO share plan
CEO, former Chairman plan
Long term incentive plan (“LTIP”)
Other equity-settled bonuses
Total equity-settled

Cash-settled:
Long term incentive plan (“LTIP”)
Total cash-settled
Total share-based compensation expense

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

231
28
4
_________
263
_________

1.385
156
57
(1.345)
86
_________
339
_________

_________
_________
263
=========

178
_________
178
_________
517
=========

The share-based compensation reserve balance included on the balance sheet under the heading “Other
reserves” (Note 24) is analyzed as follows:

Opening balance
Share-based compensation
Transfer of treasury shares to employees (Note 23)
Transfer to retained earnings upon transfer to employees
Currency translation differences
Closing balance

30

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

2.759
263
(6)
_________
3.016
=========

4.766
339
(699)
(1.629)
(18)
_________
2.759
=========
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Property tax

In accordance with legislation enacted in 2013, movable property recognized on an entity’s balance sheet from
1 January 2013 was exempted from property tax. Following the merger of all Russian operating lease entities
into one entity in November 2013, the Group was exempted from property tax throughout 2014.
Following changes to Russian Tax Code that are effective from 1 January 2015, movable property acquired from
1 January 2013 is exempted from taxation, except for property which was recorded on a company’s balance
sheet as a result of the company’s reorganization, liquidation or purchase from related parties. As a result
property tax in the amount of US$8.327 thousand was charged to the income statement in 2015.
The aforementioned changes to legislation will not have a retrospective effect.

13

Finance costs and income

Finance costs
Interest expenses – Eurobond
Interest expenses - mezzanine facility
Interest expenses - syndicated bank loans
Other borrowing costs
Interest expenses - finance lease payables

Bank charges

Finance income
Interest income on bank balances and other interest
income
Fair value gains on interest rate swap - cash flow hedge,
transfer from other comprehensive income

Net finance costs

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

42.690
11.929
11.685
1.566
678
__________
68.548

42.778
10.412
4.850
1.929
8.273
__________
68.242

96
__________
68.644
__________

66
__________
68.308
__________

(4.617)

(1.030)

(1.097)
__________
(5.714)
__________
62.930
==========

(53)
__________
(1.083)
__________
67.225
==========

As a result of the refinancing of the VTB Leasing finance lease obligations in 2014 (Note 25), the Group incurred
certain termination costs in the amount of US$861 thousand recognized within finance costs under the
“Interest expenses - finance lease payables” category. Additional termination costs in the amount of US$414
thousand, incurred as a result of refinancing other finance lease obligations, were presented above within the
same category.
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Hedging with non-derivatives

The Group adopted the provisions of IAS 39 and applied hedge accounting with non-derivative financial
liabilities (borrowings) to mitigate its exposure to foreign currency risk and the volatility of the Group’s USDdenominated revenues. An amount of US$153.691 thousand of foreign exchange losses was deferred to OCI
during 2014. The cumulative foreign exchange losses deferred to OCI resulted from the depreciation of the RUB
against the USD moving from RUB 32.73 for 1 USD at 31 December 2013 to RUB 56.26 for 1 USD at
31 December 2014.
The continuing market downturn in the second half of 2014 led to a significant decrease of the proportion of
USD-denominated revenues designated in the hedge relationship as hedged item which resulted in hedge
ineffectiveness and a restructuring of the hedge at the end of the third quarter of 2014. During the fourth
quarter of 2014 the fall in the value of the RUB against the USD was exacerbated by the falling proportion of
the Group’s USD-denominated revenues. This led to a total de-designation of hedge; in total US$129.155
thousand of foreign exchange translation losses were reclassified to profit or loss during the year ended
31 December 2014.
Following de-designation the USD-denominated Eurobond remained unhedged. As a result of the RUB
depreciation against the USD during the year ended 31 December 2015, net foreign exchange losses in the
amount of US$173.990 thousand were recognized in the income statement, mostly attributable to the USDdenominated Eurobond.
The effect of applying hedge accounting with non-derivative financial instruments on both income statement
and balance sheet is presented below:
2015
US$000

2014
US$000

(299.174)
__________

(276.761)
__________

Income statement
Net loss for the year – pre hedging with non-derivatives
Net foreign exchange losses deferred to other
comprehensive income
Net foreign exchange differences reclassified on dedesignation of hedge
Revenue – foreign exchange losses recycled from other
comprehensive income
Tax charge - related deferred taxes
Net effect on loss after tax
Net loss for the year – post hedging with non-derivatives

Total equity deficit – pre hedging with non-derivatives
Retained earnings – exchange differences deferred to
hedging reserve
Translation reserve effect
Total effect on equity
Total equity deficit – post hedging with non-derivatives
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-

153.691

-

(129.155)

__________
__________

(22.976)
(312)
__________
1.248
__________

(299.174)

(275.513)

=========

=========

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

(301.872)
__________

(22.436)
__________

__________
__________

28.048
(28.048)
__________
__________

(301.872)

(22.436)

=========

=========
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Income tax expense

Current tax expense
Deferred tax credit (Note 21)
Income tax credit

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

(520)
59.621
_________
59.101
=========

(555)
50.552
_________
49.997
=========

The tax on the Group’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the applicable
tax rates as follows:

Loss before income tax
Tax calculated at Russian statutory tax rate of 20 per cent
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Tax effect on (income)/expenses in jurisdictions which are either exempt
from taxation or have different tax rates
Tax credit

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

(358.275)
___________
71.655

(325.510)
___________
65.102

(1.914)

(4.934)

(10.640)
___________
59.101
===========

(10.171)
___________
49.997
===========

Tax is calculated in accordance with the fiscal policies of the country of incorporation of each Group company.
At the present time, no income, profit or capital gains taxes are levied in Bermuda as the Group has received
assurances from the Bermuda Government exempting its Bermudan subsidiaries from all local income,
withholding and capital gains taxes until 31 March 2035. Subsidiaries registered in Russia and Cyprus are
subject to corporation tax at the applicable rates (Note 28).
Non-deductible expenses relate mainly to expenses which are non-deductible in accordance with Cyprus and
Russian tax legislation.
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Financial instruments

(a) Financial instruments by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

31 December 2015
Assets as per balance sheet
Finance lease receivables
Trade and other receivables (excluding
prepayments)
Cash and cash equivalents
Total

Liabilities as per balance sheet
Borrowings (incl. finance lease payables)
Mezzanine
Trade and other payables (excluding advances)
Total

31 December 2014
Assets as per balance sheet
Finance lease receivables
Derivative financial instruments (used
for hedging purposes)
Trade and other receivables (excluding
prepayments)
Cash and cash equivalents
Total

Liabilities as per balance sheet
Borrowings (incl. finance lease payables)
Mezzanine
Embedded derivatives on mezzanine (Note 26)
Trade and other payables (excluding advances)
Total

34

Fair value
through profit or
loss
US$000

Loans and
receivables
US$000

Total
US$000

-

6.807

6.807

___________
===========

13.004
67.315
___________
87.126
===========

13.004
67.315
___________
87.126
===========

Fair value
through profit
or loss
US$000

Other financial
Liabilities at
amortised cost
US$000

Total
US$000

___________
===========

666.607
86.768
4.912
____________
758.287
============

666.607
86.768
4.912
____________
758.287
============

Fair value
through profit
or loss
US$000

Loans and
receivables
US$000

Total
US$000

-

8.588

8.588

1.560

-

1.560

___________
1.560
===========

13.041
72.910
___________
94.539
===========

13.041
72.910
___________
96.099
===========

Fair value
through profit
or loss
US$000

Other financial
Liabilities at
amortised cost
US$000

Total
US$000

278
___________
278
===========

687.180
75.026
3.664
____________
765.870
============

687.180
75.026
278
3.664
____________
766.148
============
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Financial instruments (continued)

(b) Credit quality of financial assets
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to
external credit ratings (if available) or internal credit ratings according to criteria set by Group Management
including, among others, minimum leases criteria and portfolio concentration limits:
2015
2014
US$000
US$000
Cash and cash equivalents
International Ratings agencies long-term rating
BBB66.000
11.858
A
1.229
Not rated
86
12
A2
60.788
Ba1
252
__________
___________
67.315
72.910
==========
===========
2015
US$000

2014
US$000

Finance lease receivables
Counterparties without external credit rating
A
B
Non-rated

Category A lessees –

Category B lessees –

912
583
7.676
6.224
__________
___________
6.807
8.588
==========
===========
minimum turnover US$60 million, minimum equity US$25 million, minimum
EBIT/interest ratio 1,25, minimum EBITDA / debt ratio 0,25, maximum debt/equity
ratio 3,0
minimum turnover US$15 million, minimum equity US$5 million, minimum
EBIT/interest ratio 1,10, minimum EBITDA / debt ratio 0,15, maximum debt/equity
ratio 4,0

Trade and other receivables representing financial assets are neither past due nor impaired with the exception
of certain debtor balances for which a specific provision for impairment was recognized (Note 20).
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Loss per share

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to the owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. The net loss attributable to the owners of
the Company is adjusted for the after-tax amount of preferred and arrearage dividends declared or paid,
in respect of preference shares and deferral shares classified as equity, during the year (Note 23).
There are no significant dilutive potential ordinary shares therefore the diluted loss per share equal the basic
loss per share.
Loss for the year attributable to the owners of the
Company (US$000)
Preferred and arrearage dividends paid/declared during
the year

2015

2014

(299.174)

(275.513)

(6.672)
_____________

Loss used in calculation of basic loss per share

(4.586)
_____________

(305.846)

(280.099)

============

============

Weighted average number of shares in issue

203.587.867

204.664.023

Loss per share (expressed in US$ per share)

(1,502)
===========

(1,369)
===========
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Equipment

Railcars
US$000
As at 1 January 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Net book amount
Year ended 31 December 2015
Opening net book amount
Additions
Impairment losses on rail cars
Disposals / retirement of assets
Depreciation charge
Depreciation on disposal
Translation differences on cost
Translation differences on depreciation
Closing net book amount
As at 31 December 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Net book amount
As at 1 January 2014
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount
Year ended 31 December 2014
Opening net book amount
Additions
Impairment losses on rail cars
Disposals / retirement of assets
Depreciation charge
Depreciation on disposal
Translation differences on cost
Translation differences on depreciation
Closing net book amount
As at 31 December 2014
Cost
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses
Net book amount

Furniture,
fittings & office
equipment
US$000

Total
US$000

817.506
(180.695)
____________
636.811
============
636.811
10.202
(165.043)
(6.150)
(35.381)
2.091
(187.073)
46.933
____________
302.390
____________

667
(376)
___________
291
===========
291
36
(33)
(108)
33
(149)
99
___________
169
___________

818.173
(181.071)
___________
637.102
===========
637.102
10.238
(165.043)
(6.183)
(35.489)
2.124
(187.222)
47.032
___________
302.559
___________

634.485
(332.095)
____________
302.390
============

521
(352)
___________
169
===========

635.006
(332.447)
___________
302.559
===========

1.311.917
(231.518)
____________
1.080.399
============
1.080.399
106.126
(14.229)
(22.036)
(55.921)
8.889
(578.501)
112.084
____________
636.811
____________

1.402
(689)
___________
713
===========
713
37
(273)
(191)
224
(498)
279
___________
291
___________

1.313.319
(232.207)
___________
1.081.112
===========
1.081.112
106.163
(14.229)
(22.309)
(56.112)
9.113
(578.999)
112.363
___________
637.102
___________

817.506
(180.695)
____________
636.811
============

667
(376)
___________
291
===========

818.173
(181.071)
___________
637.102
===========

Equipment includes 25.548 railcars (2014: 25.354) which are held by the Group subsidiary companies. Out of
the total equipment, 20.920 railcars are leased out under operating leases and short-term rentals
(2014: 21.229) and 4.628 are used for shipment of iron scrap and other freights (2014: 4.125).
In case of forced sale, the realizable value of the railcar fleet is expected to be lower than the net book value
as of 31 December 2015.
Intangible assets in the amount of US$84 thousand are included within the Equipment balance sheet amount on
31 December 2015 (2014: US$139 thousand). Intangible assets amortisation in the amount of US$32 thousand is
included within depreciation and amortisation in income statement for the year ended 31 December 2015
(2014: US$36 thousand).
Equipment pledged as collateral
At 31 December 2015 3.398 railcars were pledged as collateral against its syndicated loan (2014: 3.398)
(Note 25). The carrying value of the pledged railcars amounts to US$47.683 thousand (2014: US$106.003
thousand). The syndicated loan facility was fully repaid on 18 January 2016 (Note 31).
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Equipment (continued)

Impairment losses on railcars
Due to a continuing market downturn in 2015, the significant drop in spot lease rates, the significant
depreciation of the RUB against the USD and renegotiation of contracts from USD to RUB, the Group carried
out a review of the recoverable amount of equipment. The review led to the recognition of an impairment loss
of US$165.043 thousand (2014: US$14.229 thousand) which has been recognised in profit or loss. The
impairment loss attributable to each CGU is presented below:

Gondolas
Oil tanks
Hoppers
Box wagons

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

110.740
36.059
11.413
6.831
__________
165.043
==========

14.229
__________
14.229
==========

The Group measured the recoverability of equipment by comparing the carrying amount of the equipment to
its estimated recoverable amount, which is equal to the equipment’s value in use. The value in use was
calculated based on the future discounted cash flows from the use of the equipment.
The following significant assumptions were used in the value in use calculation:
- average market lease rates in 2016 of RUR 618/day (weighted by the Group’s railcar fleet);
- average operating costs of RUR 141 thousand per railcar a year;
- the discount rate of 15.9 percent.
The value in use calculation is particularly sensitive to changes in market lease rates and discount rate. If the
market lease rates change by 10 per cent, with all other variables held constant, value in use would have been
ca. 8.3 percent higher/lower. If the discount rate changes by 1 percent, with all other variables held constant,
value in use would have been ca. 6.1/5.4 percent higher/lower.
The impairment losses have been presented in profit or loss as a separate line item.
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Finance leases receivable

Non-current receivables
Finance leases – gross receivables
Unearned finance income

Current receivables
Finance leases – gross receivables
Unearned finance income
Lease payments received in advance

37

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

5.879
(899)
__________
4.980
==========

8.766
(1.702)
__________
7.064
==========

2.887
(803)
(257)
__________
1.827
==========

2.879
(1.065)
(290)
__________
1.524
==========
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Finance leases receivable (continued)

Gross receivables from finance leases
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

Unearned future finance income on finance leases
Lease payments received in advance
Net investment in finance leases

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

2.887
5.879
__________
8.766

2.879
8.766
__________
11.645

(1.702)
(257)
__________
6.807
==========

(2.767)
(290)
__________
8.588
==========

The net investment in finance leases may be analysed as follows:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

1.827
4.980
__________
6.807
==========

1.524
7.064
__________
8.588
==========

As of 31 December 2015 the net investment in finance leases was 208 railcars (2014: 208 railcars).
The fair value of finance leases receivables approximates their carrying amount at the balance sheet date.
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Trade and other receivables

Operating lease income receivables
Other receivables and prepayments
Transportation income receivables

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

6.469
4.598
2.386
__________
13.453
==========

6.610
5.597
1.692
__________
13.899
==========

Other than the debtor balances for which a specific provision for impairment of receivables was recognized at
the amount of US$22.172 thousand (31 December 2014: US$10.911 thousand) no other trade and other
receivables balance is considered impaired.
The ‘Other receivables and prepayments’ balance includes an amount of US$891 thousand which relates to the
sale of 200 railcars during 2014 (31 December 2014: US$4.367 thousand which related to the sale of
761 railcars).
The movement of the provision for impairment of receivables is as follows:

Opening balance at 1 January
Charge to the income statement for the year
Settlement of doubtful debts
Currency translation differences
Closing balance at 31 December
38

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

10.911
9.207
2.054
_________
22.172
=========

12.220
11.111
(9.121)
(3.299)
________
10.911
========
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Trade and other receivables (continued)

The Group’s trade and other receivables are primarily denominated in RUB.
The operating lease income receivables, the transportation income receivables and the receivable from the
sale of railcars represent financial assets. Out of the total balance of US$4.598 thousand (2014: US$5.597
thousand) pertaining to other receivables and prepayments, an amount of US$3.258 thousand (2014: US$418
thousand) represents financial assets.
During 2015 there was a continued deterioration in the market environment due to the lingering effects of
railcar overproduction and inadequate write-offs in recent years, as well as the impact of falling rail
transportation volumes. The industry downturn has been severe. Due to the weak market environment, clients’
payment discipline also continued to deteriorate, with an increasing number of clients seeking to renegotiate
contractual terms, including to renegotiate lease rates to closer to prevailing spot rates levels denominated in
Roubles, on the threat of non-payment.
These challenges were further complicated by failures of certain members of the management team who are
no longer with the Group to adhere to the Group’s Credit Policy, as well as to take effective steps to reclaim
railcars and prevent further loss under defaulted contracts.
On 29 September 2015, the Group announced changes in its key management. Following these changes,
Management has renewed its attention on negotiating the recoverability of certain transportation services and
lease income receivables, monitoring closely the developments and in cases where there were inadequate
payments from the clients and a negotiated outcome was not achievable, initiated legal proceedings. Bad debt
provision of US$9.207 thousand recognised in income statement in 2015 is in line with Management’s
expectations on the recoverability of outstanding receivables.
Due to geopolitical events affecting Ukraine, a provision of US$3.341 thousand was recognized on certain
prepayments to a railcar supplier located in Ukraine during 2014. For same reasons, Management considered
prudent to increase the provision on a claim against another railcar manufacturer located in Ukraine to
100 percent in 2014 and the amount of US$1.800 thousand was recognised in income statement. In total
an amount of US$11.111 thousand was recognized in income statement on receivables during 2014, including
an amount of US$5.960 thousand on certain transportation services and lease income receivables.
In 2014 Management successfully settled the doubtful receivable from a client at a lower than originally
anticipated discount resulting in a net IFRS gain of US$1.6 million presented within other operating income.
At the same time, the previously recognized provision for bad debts in the amount of US$9.121 thousand was
reversed.
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Deferred income tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The offset
amounts are as follows:

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax asset

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

76.785
(9.872)
___________
66.913
===========

25.698
(9.872)
___________
15.826
===========

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

15.826
59.621
(8.534)
___________
66.913
===========

(33.622)
50.552
312
(1.416)
___________
15.826
===========

The gross movement on the Group’s deferred income tax account is as follows:

Beginning of the year
Deferred tax credit (Note 15)
Hedging with non-derivatives
Exchange differences
Net deferred tax asset
39
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Deferred income tax (continued)

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration
the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:
Equipment
and
intangible
assets
US$000

Finance
lease
receivables
US00$

Finance
Lease
payables
US$000

Provisions
and accrued
expenses
US$000$

Carried Hedging with
forward tax
nonlosses
derivatives
US$000
US$000

Total
US$000

(Deferred tax liabilities) / deferred
tax assets
At 1 January 2014
(Charged)/credited to income
statement
Hedging with non-derivatives
Exchange difference
At 31 December 2014
(Charged)/credited to income
statement
Exchange difference
At 31 December 2015

(43.261)

(1.427)

4.597

1.635

4.834

(99)

(676)

1.160

(1.029)

51.508

13.427
_________
(29.933)
_________

715
_________
(1.388)
_________

(2.247)
_________
3.510
_________

91
________
697
________

(13.402)
_________
42.940
_________

32.028
7.440
_________
9.535
_________

(16)
290

(87)
(3.690)

3.249
(678)

24.447
(11.896)

___________

___________

__________

___________

(1.114)

(267)

___________

___________

3.268
__________

-

(312)
312
_________
_________
___________

55.491
___________

___________

(33.622)

50.552
312
(1.416)
_________
15.826
_________
59.621
(8.534)
___________

66.913
___________

Deferred tax assets are recognized for tax losses carried forward to the extent that the realization of the
related tax benefit through the use of future taxable profits is probable. The relevant deferred tax assets relate
to tax losses which expire mainly in years 2024 and 2025.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank
Short-term bank deposits

23

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

16.405
50.910
___________
67.315
===========

25.389
47.521
___________
72.910
===========

Share capital, share premium and treasury shares
31 December 2015
US$000

Share capital
Share premium
Treasury shares

40

271.895
120.880
(12.199)
__________
380.576
==========

31 December 2014
US$000
265.223
120.095
(12.837)
__________
372.481
==========
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Share capital, share premium and treasury shares (continued)
31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Share capital Share premium Treasury shares
US$000
US$000
US$000
Ordinary shares
Convertible
preference shares
Redeemable deferral
shares

212.198
50.000
9.697
_________
271.895
=========

123.602

(12.199)

(2.722)
_________
120.880
=========

Share capital Share premium Treasury shares
US$000
US$000
US$000
212.198

-

50.000

_________
(12.199)
=========

122.817
(2.722)

3.025
_________
265.223
=========

_________
120.095
=========

Treasury
shares
US$000

(12.837)
_________
(12.837)
=========

Ordinary share capital

At 1 January 2014
Shares buyback (1)
Shares acquired for the former CEO and
CEO, former Chairman plans (2)
Issue of share capital (3)
Treasury shares (3)
Transfer of treasury shares to employees (4)
At 31 December 2014
Unwinding the reallocation of the former
CEO’s loan (2)
At 31 December 2015

(1)

Number
of shares

Share
capital
US$000

Share
premium
US$000

215.369.781

211.727

142.130

(4.323)

349.534

-

160

(160)

-

(159.750)

Total
US$000

(12.459.031)
470.831
(470.831)
698.579
___________
203.449.579
___________

471
__________
212.198
__________

(19.473)
__________
122.817
__________

(8.582)
(471)
699
__________
(12.837)
__________

(28.055)
471
(471)
699
__________
322.178
__________

638.925
___________
204.088.504
===========

__________
212.198
==========

785
__________
123.602
==========

638
__________
(12.199)
==========

1.423
__________
323.601
==========

Shares buyback

The share buyback relates to the preceding CEO LTIP plan who exercised his option and the final tranche of
159.750 shares was sold back to the Group in January 2014 (Note 11).
(2)

Former CEO and CEO, former Chairman plans

The transfer to treasury shares relates to the former CEO’s and CEO, former Chairman’s share-based plans. The
amount of US$28.055 thousand recognized in 2014 represents the non-recourse loans granted to the former
CEO and CEO, former Chairman by the Group to fund the acquisition of shares from existing shareholders in
January 2014. Out of the 12.778.493 shares acquired by the former CEO and the CEO, former Chairman,
12.459.031 were allocated to the non-recourse loans and treated as treasury shares until the full settlement of
the non-recourse loans.
On 29 September 2015, the Group announced changes in its key management. These changes ultimately
included termination of the Group’s CEO employment. This led to unwinding the re-allocation of the principal
amount of recourse loan to non-recourse loan made in 2014 and as a result an amount of US$1.423 thousand
previously reclassified to equity is recorded as loan receivable (Note 11). Consequently, 638.925 shares
previously allocated to the non-recourse loan were reclassified from treasury shares back to loan receivable.
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Share capital, share premium and treasury shares (continued)

Ordinary share capital (continued)
(3)

LTIP
The issue of shares relates to shares issued to replenish the pool of shares set aside for the purpose of
the LTIP.

(4)

Transfer of treasury shares to employees

The treasury shares transferred to employees during 2014 related to the MIP and other equity-settled bonuses
awarded for the year 2013. The shares transferred for the MIP related to the vesting of the second tranche of
shares to the applicable manager (Note 11).
Convertible preference shares

At 1 January 2014
Issue of share capital
Transactions costs attributable to issue of
convertible preference shares
At 31 December 2014

At 31 December 2015

Number
of shares
-

Share
capital
US$000
-

Share
premium
US$000
-

Total
US$000
-

50.000.000

50.000

-

50.000

__________
50.000.000
==========

__________
50.000
==========

(2.722)
__________
(2.722)
==========

(2.722)
__________
47.278
==========

50.000.000
==========

50.000
==========

(2.722)
==========

47.278
==========

Redeemable deferral shares

At 1 January 2014
Issue of share capital
At 31 December 2014

Issue of share capital
At 31 December 2015

Number
of shares
-

Share
capital
US$000
-

Share
premium
US$000
-

Total
US$000
-

3.024.658
__________
3.024.658
==========

3.025
__________
3.025
==========

__________
==========

3.025
__________
3.025
==========

6.671.957
__________
9.696.615
==========

6.672
__________
9.697
==========

__________
==========

6.672
__________
9.697
==========

In February 2014 the Company’s Board approved the issue of up to US$150 million of cumulative redeemable
convertible preference shares (the “Preference Shares”). Concurrent with this, the Company established an
equity facility with the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (“EBRD”) whereby upon request by
the Company, the EBRD agreed to subscribe for up to US$150 million in Preference Shares (the “EBRD
Facility”). On 28 March 2014 US$50 million fully paid Preference Shares of par value US$1.00 each were issued
by the Company to EBRD under the EBRD Facility. The availability period of the EBRD Facility ended on 28 June
2015.
Dividends on the EBRD Preference Shares accrue semi-annually at the annual rate of 12% until 30 June 2017
and 14% from 1 July 2017; such dividends are payable in priority to any declaration or payment of dividend on
ordinary shares. Unpaid cumulative dividends on the Preference Shares may be deferred and capitalised
through the issuance of redeemable deferral shares (the “Deferral Shares”) which accrue dividends at 14.5%
p.a., payable in priority to any dividend on Preference Shares or ordinary shares (and which may be similarly
deferred and capitalised).
The decision as to whether to pay a cash dividend on the Preference Shares and any outstanding Deferral
Shares or to defer and capitalise the dividend by issuing Deferral Shares is made at the discretion of the Board
of Directors of the Company.
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Share capital, share premium and treasury shares (continued)

Convertible preference shares and redeemable deferral shares (continued)
The Preference Shares (together with the related Deferral Shares) may only be converted into ordinary or other
junior shares of the Company (“Junior Shares”) on the occurrence of certain events, including the occurrence of
an Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) or a third party sale. They may be redeemed for cash at the discretion of the
Company at any time after five years of the date of issuance for cash. No such ordinary or other junior shares
were issued by the Company as at 31 December 2015 and 2014. The conversion and redemption prices are
equal to the outstanding amounts plus a premium of up to 33.33%, depending on when the conversion or
redemption event happens.
The Preference Shares (together with the related Deferral Shares) are mandatorily convertible into ordinary
shares on the date of completion of an IPO at the IPO price. If an IPO has not occurred after 9 years from the
issuance date, the Company shall convert all outstanding Preference Shares and Deferral Shares into fully paid
ordinary shares at a ratio of 0.565% of the Company’s post-conversion ordinary share capital for each US$1
million of outstanding Preference Shares and Deferral Shares.
The cumulative dividends of approximately US$6.672 thousand for the year 2015, in respect of outstanding
Preference Shares and Deferral Shares, were deferred and capitalised through an issuance of 6,671,957
Deferral Shares. The cumulative dividend of US$3.025 thousand as at 31 December 2014, in respect of
outstanding Preference Shares, was deferred and capitalised through an issuance of 3,024,658 Deferral Shares.
The cumulative dividend of US$1.562 thousand as at 30 June 2014, in respect of outstanding Preference
Shares, was paid in cash on 30 June 2014.
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Other reserves
Hedging
reserve
US$000

Balance at 31 December 2013/1 January 2014
Cash flow hedge (derivatives):
-Fair value gains on hedging reserve
Cash flow hedge (non-derivatives):
-Exchange differences deferred to equity,
net of tax
-Currency translation difference
-Exchange differences recycled to income
statement, net of tax
-Exchange differences recycled on dedesignation of hedge, net of tax
Currency translation differences
Transfer of treasury shares to employees
(Note 11)
Transfer of share-based compensation reserve to
retained earnings upon vesting (Note 11)
Share-based payment (Note 11)
Balance at 31 December 2014/1 January 2015
Cash flow hedge (derivatives):
-Fair value losses on hedging reserve
-Transfers to income statement
Currency translation differences
Share-based payment (Note 11)
Balance at 31 December 2015

(26.981)
1.511

(122.952)
18.381
103.324
28.228
-

Translation
reserve
US$000
(32.974)
-

(28.048)
(97.534)
-

Share-based
compensation
reserve
US$000

Share swap
reserve
US$000

4.766

(57.428)

(112.617)

-

-

-

-

(122.952)
(28.048)

-

-

18.381

-

-

103.324
(69.306)

-

(699)

(699)

1.511

__________
1.511

__________
(158.556)

(1.629)
321
__________
2.759

___________
(57.428)

(1.629)
321
___________
(211.714)

(414)
(1.097)
_________
==========

19.569
__________
(138.987)
==========

257
__________
3.016
==========

___________
(57.428)
===========

(414)
(1.097)
19.569
257
___________
(193.399)
===========

The translation, hedging and share-based compensation reserves are non-distributable.
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Total
US$000
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Borrowings

Non-current borrowings
Eurobond
Finance lease payables
Other borrowings
Bank borrowings

Current borrowings
Eurobond
Bank borrowings
Other borrowings
Finance lease payables

Total borrowings

Maturity of non-current borrowings
(excluding finance lease liabilities)
Later than 1 year and not later than 3 years

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

593.665
2.231
3.340
___________
599.236
___________

590.654
3.872
69.103
___________
663.629
___________

6.500
54.562
5.074
1.235
___________
67.371
___________
666.607
===========

6.500
1.232
14.740
1.079
___________
23.551
___________
687.180
===========

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

597.005
___________
597.005
===========

659.757
___________
659.757
===========

Unicredit syndicated loan
In July 2014 the Group signed a syndicated loan facility for over RUB 8 billion with a group of international
banks, with Unicredit Bank AG as facility agent. On 15 August 2014 the Group drew down part of the proceeds
to refinance the VTB Leasing finance lease obligations in the amount of approximately RUB 4 billion. This
financing had an availability period of twelve months with a commitment fee of 50bp and complemented the
EBRD Facility (Note 23). The two-year loan facility bore interest of three-month MosPrime plus 2,2 per cent
margin in year one and 2,7 per cent margin in year two. The facility was secured by way of a pledge on
equipment (3 398 railcars). The syndicated loan facility was fully repaid on 18 January 2016 (Note 31).
Revolving credit facility
On 25 July 2014 the Group extended an agreement with ZAO ING Bank in relation to a revolving credit facility
of US$20.000 thousand with a maturity date of 14 August, 2015. The facility bore interest of USD monthly
LIBOR plus 3.95 per cent margin and could have been used for general corporate purposes. There was no
outstanding balance relating to this credit facility at 31 December 2014. The agreement was terminated on
30 June 2015.
The carrying amounts and fair values of the total Group borrowings and finance lease liabilities as at
31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 were as follows:
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Borrowings (continued)
Carrying amounts

Eurobond
Bank borrowings
Other borrowings
Finance lease payables

Fair values

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

600.165
54.562
8.414
3.466
__________
666.607
==========

597.154
70.335
14.740
4.951
__________
687.180
==========

273.084
55.506
8.441
3.466
__________
340.497
==========

260.790
72.405
14.720
4.951
__________
352.866
==========

The fair values of bank and other borrowings with variable cash flows are based on forecast for quarterly
discounted cash flows using forward interest rates obtained from the Group’s bankers for each quarterly
repayment period. The carrying amounts of the Group's bank and other borrowings are denominated in RUB
and USD. The fair value of the Eurobond is based on a price on 31 December 2015 obtained from Bloomberg
financial data service. The Eurobond is denominated in USD.
The Group was required to be in compliance with certain financial and business covenants relating to the
syndicated loan facility during its tenure. Non-compliance with these covenants could, in the absence of waiver
or early repayment, have resulted in negative consequences for the Group, including potential declarations of
default, acceleration, enforcement of security and cross-defaults under other indebtedness.
During the reporting period, the Group breached certain financial and non-financial covenants under its
syndicated loan facility for which it was unable to obtain (or retain initially granted) waivers. In view of this
challenging situation, in December 2015, OOO Brunswick Rail, the Group’s Russian subsidiary, and Alfa-Leasing
LLC signed a term sheet for the provision of two new sale and leaseback facilities. The agreement for the first
sale and leaseback facility was signed on 28 December 2015 and the transaction was completed, followed by
the drawdown, on 18 January 2016. On the same day OOO Brunswick Rail used the proceeds of this sale and
leaseback facility, together with its own cash to repay fully its existing syndicated facility (Note 31). There was
consequently no acceleration of the syndicated loan facility. As a result no cross-default event of default was
triggered under the Eurobonds or the Group’s other indebtedness.
As at 31 December 2014 the Group was in compliance with its financial and business covenants under its
syndicated loan facility.
Finance lease liabilities

Gross payables for finance leases
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years

Future finance charges on finance leases
Net finance lease payables

Maturity of non-current liabilities from finance leases
Later than 1 year and not later than 3 years
Later than 3 years and not later than 5 years
Over 5 years
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2015
US$000

2014
US$000

1.675
2.799
__________
4.474
(1.008)
__________
3.466
==========

1.763
4.506
605
__________
6.874
(1.923)
__________
4.951
==========

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

1.440
791
___________
2.231
===========

2.448
870
554
___________
3.872
===========
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Derivative financial instruments

Embedded derivatives
Balance at beginning of year
Revaluation of embedded derivatives on mezzanine
Currency translation differences
Total embedded derivatives

Interest rate swaps
Interest rate swaps
Interest receivable on financial instruments
Total interest rate swaps
Total current derivative financial instruments

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

(278)
300
(22)
___________
-

3.219
(3.586)
89
___________
(278)

___________
-

1.511
49
___________
1.560

===========

1.282
===========

Interest rate swaps
The derivative financial instruments included in current assets represent interest rate swaps – cash flow
hedges. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability if the remaining
maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months and as a current asset or liability if the maturity of the
hedge item is less than 12 months.
In 2014 the Group entered into swap agreements with Raiffeisen and Unicredit. The notional amount of the
outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 31 December 2014 was US$50.193 thousand or RUB2.823.789
thousand. The fixed interest rate payable on interest rate swaps during 2015 ranged from 11,85% to 13,36% in
Roubles (2014: 11,85% to 13,36% in Roubles). The Rouble floating rates receivable are 3-month MosPrime +
2,2%. As of 31 December 2015 there were no balances in relation to interest rate swaps as these were all
settled at maturity in August 2015.
Gains and losses recognized in the hedging reserve in the statement of changes in equity on interest rate swap
contracts as at 31 December 2014 amounting to US$1.511 thousand were released to the income statement
during 2015. For the year 2015, an amount of US$1.097 thousand was transferred to the income statement
(2014: US$53 thousand) within finance costs and income (Note 13).
The fair value of the derivative financial instruments is determined using the ‘mark-to-market’ valuation for
each swap agreement.
Embedded derivatives
The embedded derivatives relate to certain derivatives identified in the US$60 million mezzanine facility
agreement which are (i) a right for the holder of the facility to request a conversion of the outstanding balance
of the facility into shares in the Company within 5 years from the date of the agreement and (ii) a prepayment
option for the issuer (the Company) under which the Company can, under certain conditions, elect to prepay
the facility.
Fair value gains of US$300 thousand were recorded in income statement for the year ended 31 December 2015
(2014: fair value losses US$3.586 thousand).
As of 31 December 2015 there is no balance in relation to the embedded derivatives as the aforementioned
right of the holder expired prior to the end of the year. The fair value of the embedded derivative liabilities
calculated as at 31 December 2014 was US$278 thousand.
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Trade and other payables

Trade payables and accrued expenses
Advances from customers
Railcar creditors

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

4.912
1.404
__________
6.316
==========

3.654
1.902
10
__________
5.566
==========

The fair value of trade and other payables which are due within one year approximates their carrying amount
at the balance sheet date.
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Contingencies, commitments and operating risks

Compliance with local regulations
As at 31 December 2015 and 2014 all of the Group’s Russian subsidiaries are in compliance with local
regulations.
The Russian legislation specifies that capital repairs on railcars should be performed every 4-17 years
depending on the type of railcar. The types of railcars owned by the Group have a capital repair term of
10-12 years. Depot repairs as indicated in the Russian legislation should be performed for new railcars after
2-3 years and then every 1-2 years depending on the type of the railcar.
Operating environment of the Russian Federation
Emerging markets such as Russia are subject to different risks than more developed markets, including
economic, political and social, and legal and legislative risks. Laws and regulations affecting businesses in Russia
continue to change rapidly, tax and regulatory frameworks are subject to varying interpretations. The future
economic direction of Russia is heavily influenced by the fiscal and monetary policies adopted by the
government, together with developments in the legal, regulatory, and political environment.
Because Russia produces and exports large volumes of oil and gas, its economy is particularly sensitive to the
price of oil and gas on the world market. During 2014 and 2015 the oil price decreased significantly, which led
to substantial decrease of the Russian Ruble exchange rate.
Starting from 2014, sanctions have been imposed in several packages by the U.S. and the E.U. on certain
Russian officials, businessmen and companies.
In the first quarter of 2015 two international credit agencies downgraded Russia’s long-term foreign currency
sovereign rating to the speculative level with the negative outlook.
The above mentioned events have led to reduced access of the Russian businesses to international capital
markets, increased inflation, economic recession and other negative economic consequences. The impact of
further economic developments on future operations and financial position of the Group is at this stage
difficult to determine.
Tax legislation
Laws and regulations affecting business in the Russian Federation continue to change rapidly. Management’s
interpretation of such legislation as applied to the activity of the Group may be challenged by the relevant
regional and federal authorities. Recent events suggest that the tax authorities are taking a more assertive
position in their interpretation of the legislation and assessments and as a result, it is possible that transactions
and activities that have not been challenged in the past may be challenged. Fiscal periods generally remain
open to tax audit by the authorities in respect of taxes for three calendar years preceding the year of tax audit.
Under certain circumstances reviews may cover longer periods.
Management believes that it has accrued for all taxes that are applicable. Where uncertainty exists, the Group
has accrued tax liabilities as Management’s best estimate of the probable outflow of resources which will be
required to settle such liabilities. Management believes that it has provided adequately for tax liabilities based
on its interpretations of tax legislation. However, the relevant authorities may have differing interpretations,
and the effects on the financial statements could be significant.
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Contingencies, commitments and operating risks (continued)

Tax legislation (continued)
Russian transfer pricing legislation was amended starting from 1 January 2012 to introduce additional reporting
and documentation requirements. The legislation allows the tax authorities to impose additional tax liabilities
in respect of certain transactions, including but not limited to transactions with related parties, if they consider
transaction to be priced not at arm's length. As the practice of implementation of the new transfer pricing rules
has not yet developed and wording of some clauses may have more than one interpretation, the impact of
challenge of the Group's transfer pricing positions by the tax authorities cannot be reliably estimated.
Any prior existing Russian court decisions may provide guidance, but are not legally binding for decisions by
other, or higher level, Russian courts in the future.
Management believes that its pricing policy is arm's length and it has implemented internal controls to be in
compliance with the new transfer pricing legislation.
Given that the practice of implementation of the new Russian transfer pricing rules has not yet developed,
the impact of any challenge of the Group’s transfer prices cannot be reliably estimated.
Tax liabilities arising from transactions between companies are determined using actual transaction prices. It is
possible, with the evolution of the interpretation of the transfer pricing rules, that such transfer prices could be
challenged. The impact of any such challenge cannot be reliably estimated; however, it may be significant to
the financial position and/or the overall operations of the Group.
The Group includes companies incorporated outside of Russia. The tax liabilities of the Group are determined
on the assumption that these companies are not subject to Russian profits tax, because they do not have
a permanent establishment in Russia. This interpretation of relevant legislation may be challenged but the
impact of any such challenge cannot be reliably estimated currently; however, it may be significant to the
financial position and/or the overall operations of the Group.
In 2014, amendments were introduced into the Russian tax legislation in respect of taxation of profit of
controlled foreign companies. According to these changes, the 2015 undistributed profits of the Group foreign
subsidiaries, recognized as controlled foreign companies, may result in an increase of the tax base of the
controlling entities in 2016.
As Russian tax legislation does not provide definitive guidance in certain areas, the Group adopts, from time to
time, interpretations of such uncertain areas that reduce the overall tax rate of the Group. While Group
Management currently estimates that the tax positions and interpretations that it has taken can reasonably be
sustained, there is a possible risk that outflow of resources will be required should such tax positions and
interpretations be challenged by the relevant authorities. The impact of any such challenge cannot be reliably
estimated; however, it may be significant to the financial position and/or the overall operations of the Group.
As at 31 December 2015 and 2014 it was estimated by Group Management that none of the Group’s
subsidiaries had possible tax obligations arising from exposure other than remote tax risks.
Environmental matters
The enforcement of environmental regulation in the Russian Federation is evolving and the enforcement
posture of government authorities is continually being reconsidered. The Group periodically evaluates its
obligations under environmental regulations and shareholder agreements. Once obligations are determined,
they are recognized immediately. Potential liabilities, which might arise as a result of changes in existing
regulations, civil litigation or legislation, cannot be estimated but could be material. In the current enforcement
climate under existing legislation, Group Management believes that there are no significant liabilities for
environmental matters.
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Operating lease commitments

(a)

Operating lease arrangements
The future aggregate minimum rentals receivable under non-cancelable operating leases are as
follows:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but not later
than 5 years

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

14.389

18.578

6.212
___________
20.601
===========

24.920
___________
43.498
===========

The Group leases out all railcars under operating lease arrangements for a period of 1 – 7 years.
The future aggregate total rentals receivable under cancelable operating leases, excluding fines for early
termination, are as follows:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but not later
than 5 years
Later than 5 years

(b)

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

68.920

105.492

110.396
6.622
___________
185.938
===========

241.795
22.365
___________
369.652
===========

Rent of premises
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases for the rent of premises
are as follows:

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but not later
than 5 years
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2015
US$000

2014
US$000

1.004

1.251

496
___________
1.500
===========

612
___________
1.863
===========
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Related party transactions

There is no single ultimate controlling party which exercises control over the affairs of the Group.
Transactions with related parties are as follows:
Key management compensation

Salaries and other benefits
Directors fees and expenses
Bonuses
Share-based payment (Note 11)

2015
US$000
3.561
1.187
457
263
_________
5.468
=========

2014
US$000
3.553
1.420
1.190
431
_________
6.594
=========

The parties mentioned below are able to exercise significant influence over the Group.
Shareholder loan

Balance at beginning of year
Principal repayment
Interest charged
Interest paid
Currency translation difference
Balance at end of year

Current portion
Non-current portion
Total shareholder loan

2015
US$000

2014
US$000

14.740
(6.350)
569
(535)
(10)
_________
8.414
=========

14.740
495
(484)
(11)
_________
14.740
=========

5.074
3.340
___________
8.414
===========

14.740
___________
14.740
===========

In 2012 the Company signed an agreement with one of its shareholders to buy back 6,7 million shares at a price
of US$2,20 per share for a total consideration of US$14,74 million. On the same day, the Company signed an
agreement for a three-year loan from the shareholder to finance the acquisition of the shares. The loan is
unsecured and carries an interest rate of 3-month USD LIBOR + 300 basis points (Note 25).
On 16 March 2015 the Group signed a novation and an amended and restated loan agreement to the original
US$14.7 million loan agreement with one of its shareholders’ affiliates based on which the Group repaid an
amount of US$5 million on the same day. In accordance with the revised terms of the agreement, the
remaining loan carries an interest rate of 3-month USD LIBOR + 600 basis points, includes an agreed payment
schedule and the final maturity date of the loan was extended to 30 June 2017. The Group repaid an additional
amount of US$1.35 million on 31 July 2015. On 27 October 2015 the Group signed another amended and
restated loan agreement based on which the amended and restated loan agreement previously signed on
16 March 2015 was further amended and restated. The loan outstanding as of the date of signing amounted to
US$8.4 million. The revised terms of the agreement amended the agreed payment schedule and extended the
final repayment date to 31 December 2017.
Mezzanine
In 2010 the Group entered into a Mezzanine Facility Agreement. Initially the mezzanine agreement was solely
entered into with MRIF Luxembourg Investments 2 Sarl. Part of the facility was then transferred by the lender
to its associate, MRIF Bermuda Investments 4 Limited (together “MRIF”) in 2011. MRIF made available a US$60
million mezzanine facility to the Group. The facility bears interest at a rate of 15 per cent per annum and is
repayable on 2 December 2020. Based on the terms of the agreement, MRIF had the right to give notice to
implement a debt for equity conversion within 5 years from the date of the agreement. MRIF did not exercise
their conversion option which expired in December 2015 .
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Related party transactions (continued)

Mezzanine (continued)
The mezzanine transactions and balances are as follows:

Balance at beginning of year
Interest accrued
Unamortised borrowing costs under the effective
interest method
Currency translation differences
Balance at end of year

2015
US$000
75.026
11.924

2014
US$000
64.872
10.434

5
(187)
___________
86.768
===========

(22)
(258)
___________
75.026
===========

The fair value of the mezzanine, if considered jointly together with the embedded derivatives, approximates
the carrying amount of the instrument at the balance sheet date.
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Events after the balance sheet date

In December 2015, OOO Brunswick Rail, the Group’s Russian subsidiary, and Alfa-Leasing LLC signed a term
sheet for the provision of up to RUR 4 billion of financing pursuant to two new sale and leaseback facilities
(with respect to 3,398 and 2,700 railcars, respectively). As part of the above financing plan, OOO Brunswick Rail
signed the first agreement with Alfa-Leasing LLC for the provision of RUR 2.3 billion (incl. VAT) of financing
under a new sale and leaseback facility on 28 December 2015 and the transaction was completed, followed by
the drawdown, on 18 January 2016. On the same day OOO Brunswick Rail used the proceeds of this sale and
leaseback facility, together with its own cash to repay fully its existing syndicated facility.
On 26 January 2016 OOO Brunswick Rail signed the agreement for the second sale and leaseback facility in the
amount of ca. RUR 1.6 billion (incl. VAT); the transaction was completed, followed by the drawdown on the
same day. The second Alfa-Leasing tranche (which is without additional fees, and can be repaid at any time
without penalty) will provide liquidity in the event of a further market downturn.
Pursuant to the sale and leaseback transaction, OOO Brunswick Rail will simultaneously lease back any railcars
sold. The leases have a term that ends in January 2018, and an interest rate of 16%, plus customary fees
charged over the life of the facility. OOO Brunswick Rail will have an option to repurchase leased railcars at any
time during the lease term at a price determined in the finance lease agreement.
In February 2016, as part of documenting the arrangements under which the former Chairman of the Board
agreed to take on the role of CEO, the Group signed certain agreements with the CEO (former Chairman),
amending the conditions and timing under his share-based plan for portions of the original principal amount of
the recourse loan to be re-allocated to the non-recourse loan.
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Direct and indirect interests in subsidiaries

For the purposes of the consolidation the following legal entities are the subsidiaries and sub-subsidiaries of the
Company and the table represents the ultimate per cent ownership of the Company in each entity’s share capital:
Name
Brunswick Rail Group Limited
Brunswick Rail Fin Limited

Country of
incorporation
Bermuda
Cyprus

Brunswick Rail Group (Cyprus) Limited

Cyprus

OOO Proftrans
OOO ProfExpo Trans

Russia
Russia

OOO Brunswick Rail Management

Russia

Brunswick Rail Finance Limited

Ireland

OOO Brunswick Rail
Russia
Brunswick Rail Holding (Cyprus) Limited (1) Cyprus

(1)
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The company was incorporated on 14 August 2014

Principal activities
Holding of investments
Provision of financing to
Group companies
Holding of trademarks and Russian
subsidiary
Shipment of iron scrap and other freights
Shipment of iron scrap and other
freights on export
Provision of management services
to Group companies
Provision of financing to
Group companies
Leasing of railcars to third parties
Holding of Russian subsidiaries

2015
100%

2014
100%

100%

100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
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Non-IFRS measures (unaudited)

The table below represents a reconciliation of the audited IFRS loss for the years ended 31 December 2015 and
2014 to Adjusted EBITDA which is not defined by IFRS and used by Management for decision-making purposes
as part of the analysis of the Group’s results:

Loss for the year
plus/(minus):
Income tax credit
Net foreign exchange differences on de-designation of hedge
Net foreign exchange losses
Revaluation losses/(gains) of embedded derivatives on mezzanine
Finance income
Finance costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment losses on railcars
Share-based compensation
Professional services associated with preparation to a potential IPO process
Railcars re-registration costs
Professional services associated with forensic review and sanctions related matters
Hedging with non-derivatives effect
Adjusted EBITDA
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US$000

US$000

(299.174)

(275.513)

(59.101)
173.990
(300)
(5.714)
68.644
35.521
165.043
263
1.260
__________
80.432
==========

(49.997)
129.155
183.475
3.586
(1.083)
68.308
56.148
14.229
517
568
1.063
22.976
__________
153.432
==========

